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ESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

/

l^r\Vi'he Newport Artillery Company, an organization chartered in ±mj., 
raised money in l83£ to build its permanent quarters on Clarke Street, 
a locale that had been prominent in Newport's history from the time of 
the city's first settlement. Alexander MacGregor, a stonemason from 
Scotland who was responsible for much of Newport's early-19th-century 
stone building, was hired to design the armory, and Duress and McWade 
were taken on as contractors. MacGregor piled walls of random ashlar 
(native stone given by Enoch Hazard from his Rocky Farm) and topped 
them with a modest gable to create a building of simple, but relatively 
heavy, temple form. He rusticated the corners and the main doorway. 
A long lintel over the double, panelled doors reads "17iil. Artillery 
Company." (In photographs taken in 1870, one can see that the gable 
was then undecorated, the doors were diagonally planked, and an ex­ 
tremely tall flagpole stood on the sidewalk,in front.) The building 
was set on a narrow lot, donated by Audley Clarke, a Newport merchant 
and benefactor, with 28 feet of frontage; and the structure itself was 
originally no more than £0 feet deep. In 1873 there was an addition 
to the rear, increasing the number of east-west bays from four to 
eight. While this addition distorted the originally fine proportions 
of MacGregorJs design, the armory-situated as closely as it is between, 
the Second Congregational Church on the right and the Robert Stevens 
house on the left was not really impaired in general appearance. Its 
architecture was harmed, however, in 1906 when the gable was raised to 
make way for a second story. Though the new stonework and brickwork 
are well matched to the old, the added height and the introduction of 
five windows across the upper fa5ade have marred the Greek-Revival in­ 
tentions of the original design. A granite belt course was then added 
along the sides of the building. There are iron bars on these front 
windows and iron shutters for the windows on the sides of the building. 
Of visual interest is a large, relief-carved wooden eagle appliedto 
the gable or tympanum in i860. Taken from the paddle-box of the^S. S. 
"Metropolis," the bird is set a.ainst a red-painted wooden semicircular 
background. Two triangular panels with embedded cannonballs flank the 

eagle emblem.

The interior is open and rather plain, with a ceiling height of 
about 15 feet. The panelled wainscoting that was probably once var-

corners. The front and rear stairways of the long  ~ 
hall (now used as a museum) have simple square wooden

or command P^m; f gSTin dark panelling; the central up-
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Downing, Antoinette F., and S cully, Vincent J., Jr.: The Architectural 
Heritage of • Newport. Rhode Island, 16UO-1915 (Cambridge, Massachusetts,
1952), pp. 102, 112, 19U. 

Manuel, Elton: History of Clarke Street (unpublished manuscript, Newport,
Rhode Island, 1970).
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Rhode Island Historical Preservation Commission September 2£, ! 7
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As the designated State Liaison Officer for the Na­ 
tional Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 
89-665), I hereby nominate this property for inclusion 
in the National Register and certify that it has been 
evaluated according to the criteria and procedures set 
forth by the National Park Service. The recommended 
level of significance of this nomination is: 

National Q State g] Local Q

Namr^^vU^^V^ ̂ K\ 'vWlXK^.vr^-

Title State Liaison Officer

rjate February 14, 1972

STATE CODE

Rhode Island, 02903 kh

I hereby certify that this property is included in the 

National Register. 
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Chief, Office of Archeology and Historic Preservation 
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TATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Owing to the antiquity of the militia organization it houses, and 
to its presence in this historic block, the Clarke Street armory has 
much to speak for it besides its architecture. 'The Newport Artillery 
Company's earliest origin was in 1639 as a "trained band" against 
hostile Indians; l and, according to Elton Manuel's detailed account, in 
ITlil

"a group of 18 men, calling themselves the 'principal inhabi­ 
tants of the town' applied to the General Assembly for a charter 
to form an organization ... the charter was approved. They chose 
Jahleel Brenton as their first commanding officer."

'When, nearly one hundred years later, they desired a permanent and, if 
possible, monumental armory they employed Alexander MacGregor, a Scotch 
stonemasonfwho also built the fine granite walls of the early part of 
Fort Adams, the Perry Mill, Stone Villa, Swanhurst, and the Thorn house 
in Newport.

/
In adapting rough-laid local stone to the smooth rigidities of the 

Greek Revival style so popular in the early part of the 19th century, 
the armory is unusually successful: MacGregor's handling of it is strong 
and confident (even if quoining seems out of place in this .style).'  The 
building in old photographs and restored sketches depends on its striking 
proportions for its effect the simplicity of its rectangular and super­ 
posed triangular masses, the flatness of the fa9ade, the primitively 
"defensive" heavy inset doors./

f
The armory's architectural individuality and long-established

place in the community of Newport, as well as its present use as a 
highly instructive military museum, make it an integral part of the 
fabric of the Clarke Street neighborhood, and indeed of Newport's over­ 
all heritage.'
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